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IN THE UNITED STATES DISTRICT COURT
FOR THE MIDDLE DISTRICT OF FLORIDA

GRAHAM HOOPER, individually and on behalf of
all others similarly situated,

CLASS ACTION
Plaintiff,

Vs. JURY TRIAL DEMANDED

DIGITAL MEDIA SOLUTIONS, LLC.,
a Delaware limited liability company,

Defendant.

CLASS ACTION COMPLAINT

1. Plaintiff, Graham Hooper (‘“Plaintiff”), brings this action against Defendant, Digital
Media Solutions, LLC. (“Defendant”), to secure redress for violations of the Telephone Consumer
Protection Act (“TCPA”), 47 U.S.C. § 227.

NATURE OF THE ACTION

2. This is a putative class action pursuant to the Telephone Consumer Protection Act, 47
U.S.C. § 227 et seq., (the “TCPA”).

3. Defendant is a leading global marketing-tech company. Defendant connected
consumers and advertisers with digital marketing campaigns. To promote its services, Defendant
engages in unsolicited marketing, harming thousands of consumers in the process.

4. Through this action, Plaintiff seeks injunctive relief to halt Defendant’s illegal conduct,
which has resulted in the invasion of privacy, harassment, aggravation, and disruption of the daily life
of thousands of individuals. Plaintiff also seeks statutory damages on behalf of himself and members

of the class, and any other available legal or equitable remedies.
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JURISDICTION AND VENUE

5. Jurisdiction is proper under 28 U.S.C. 8 1331 as Plaintiff alleges violations of a federal
statute. Jurisdiction is also proper under 28 U.S.C. § 1332(d)(2) because Plaintiff alleges a national class,
which will result in at least one class member belonging to a different state than that of Defendant.
Plaintiff seeks up to $1,500.00 (one-thousand-five-hundred dollars) in damages for each call, in
violation of the TCPA, which, when aggregated among a proposed class numbering in the tens of
thousands, or more, exceeds the $5,000,000.00 (five-million dollars) threshold for federal court
jurisdiction under the Class Action Fairness Act (“CAFA”). Therefore, both the elements of diversity
jurisdiction and CAFA jurisdiction are present.

6. Venue is proper in the United States District Court for the Middle District of Florida
pursuant to 28 U.S.C. § 1391(b) and (c) because Defendant resides within this judicial district,
Defendant is deemed to reside in any judicial district in which it is subject to the court’s personal
jurisdiction, and because Defendant provides and markets its services within this district thereby
establishing sufficient contacts to subject it to personal jurisdiction. Further, Defendant’s tortious
conduct against Plaintiff occurred within the State of Florida and, on information and belief, Defendant
has sent the same text messages complained of by Plaintiff to other individuals within this judicial
district, such that some of Defendant’s acts in making such calls have occurred within this district,

subjecting Defendant to jurisdiction in the State of Florida.

PARTIES
7. Plaintiff is a natural person who, at all times relevant to this action, was a resident of
Philadelphia County, PA.
8. Defendant is a Delaware limited liability company whose principal office is located at

4800 140th Avenue N, Suite 101, Clearwater, Florida 33762. Defendant directs, markets, and provides

its business activities throughout the State of Florida.
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9. On or about June 11, 2020, Defendant began sending numerous telemarketing text

messages to Plaintiff’s cellular telephone number ending in 5783 (the “5783 Number™):
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Text Message
Yesterday 9:18 AM

Get a 2018 Toyota Camry for
$0 Down and $99/mo! Over
200 other makes & models too!
http://autohunt.email/
258333751

Yesterday 6:10 PM

Let's get you approved for a No
Money Down here: http://
loanaid.info

It appears like we can get you
Free Months of Insurance and
lower your Auto Coverage
down to 35 per mo! http://
lowerinsure.cloud

Yesterday 7:15 PM

Let's get you approved for a No
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Yesterday 7:15 PM

Let's get you approved for a No
Money Down here: http://
loanaid.info

It appears like we can get you
Free Months of Insurance and
lower your Auto Coverage
down to 35 per mo! http://
lowerinsure.cloud

Today 9:33 AM

Let's get you approved for a No
Money Down here: http://
loanaid.info

It appears like we can get you
Free Months of Insurance and
lower your Auto Coverage
down to 35 per mo! http://
lowerinsure.cloud
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10.  Defendant’s text messages were transmitted to Plaintiff’s cellular telephone, and within

the time frame relevant to this action.

11.  Defendant’s text messages constitute telemarketing because they encouraged the future

purchase or investment in property, goods, or services, i.e., selling products and services offered by

Defendant’s marketing clients.

12.  The information contained in the text messages advertises Defendant’s client’s various

specials and deals, which Defendant sends to promote its business.
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13. Defendant sent subject texts within this judicial district and, therefore, Defendant’s
violation of the TCPA occurred within this district. Upon information and belief, Defendant caused
other text messages to be sent to individuals residing within this judicial district.

14. At no point in time did Plaintiff provide Defendant with his express written consent to
be contacted.

15.  Plaintiff is the subscriber and sole user of the 5783 Number and is financially
responsible for phone service to the 5783 Number.

16.  Plaintiff has been registered with the national do-not-call registry since September 22,
2018 and at all times relevant to this action.

17. The TCPA’s implementing regulation, 47 C.F.R. § 64.1200(c), provides that “[n]o
person or entity shall initiate any telephone solicitation” to “[a] residential telephone subscriber who has
registered his or her telephone number on the national do-not-call registry of persons who do not wish
to receive telephone solicitations that is maintained by the federal government.”

18.  The text messages originated from telephone number 476-58, a number which upon
information and belief is owned and operated by Defendant.

19.  Defendant’s unsolicited text messages caused Plaintiff actual harm, including invasion
of his privacy, aggravation, annoyance, intrusion on seclusion, trespass, and conversion. Defendant’s
text messages also inconvenienced Plaintiff and caused disruption to his daily life.

CLASS ALLEGATIONS

PROPOSED CLASS

20. Plaintiff brings this case as a class action pursuant to Fed. R. Civ. P. 23, on behalf of

himself and all others similarly situated.
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21. Plaintiff brings this case on behalf of a Class defined as follows:

Do Not Call Reqistry Class: All persons in the United
States who from four years prior to the filing of this action
(1) were sent a text message by or on behalf of Defendant;
(2) more than one time within any 12-month period; (3)
where the person’s telephone number had been listed on
the National Do Not Call Registry for at least thirty days;
(4) for the purpose of selling Defendant’s client’s products
and services; and (5) for whom Defendant claims (a) it did
not obtain prior express written consent, or (b) it obtained
prior express written consent in the same manner as
Defendant claims it supposedly obtained prior express
written consent to call the Plaintiff.

22. Defendant and its employees or agents are excluded from the Class. Plaintiff does not
know the number of members in the Class but believes the Class members number in the several
thousands, if not more.

NUMEROSITY

23. Upon information and belief, Defendant has placed violative calls to cellular telephone
numbers belonging to thousands of consumers throughout the United States who are registered on the
Do Not Call registry. The members of the Class, therefore, are believed to be so numerous that joinder
of all members is impracticable.

24.  The exact number and identities of the Class members are unknown at this time and can
only be ascertained through discovery. Identification of the Class members is a matter capable of
ministerial determination from Defendant’s call records.

CoMMON QUESTIONS OF LAW AND FACT

25.  There are numerous questions of law and fact common to the Class which predominate
over any questions affecting only individual members of the Class. Among the questions of law and
fact common to the Class are:

(1) Whether Defendant violated 47 C.F.R. § 64.1200(c);

(2) Whether Defendant is liable for damages, and the amount of such damages; and
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